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AGENDA ITEM # 1 

TOWN OF FAIRFAX 
STAFF REPORT 

July 16, 2020 
 

 
TO:  Planning Commission and Open Space Commission 
 

FROM: Ben Berto, Director of Planning and Building Services 
   
SUBJECT: Digitized version of Zoning Chapter 17.060 Ridgeline Development map 
 

 
BACKGROUND   

Staff continues to digitize and georeference the baseline maps from the early 1970’s that are 
referenced in Title 17 of the Fairfax Municipal Code (Zoning), and clarify the references to such 
maps.  In 2019, for example, your Commission reviewed and recommended adoption of 
digitized, georeferenced versions of landslide hazard maps as part of amendments relating to 
the Hill Area Residential Development (HRD) zoning chapter.  The recommended zoning 
amendments and digitized maps were subsequently adopted by the Town Council. 
 
Staff believes that it will be very useful to have digitized, georeferenced versions of the Visual 
Resources Map contained in the current 2010-2030 General Plan.  Therefore in cooperation 
with Jill Templeton, the Town’s GIS specialist, staff created a draft version of the map and 
presented it to the Planning Commission at last month’s (June 18) meeting.  The Commission 
reviewed the staff information presented and continued the item to this month’s meeting, with 
direction to investigate map boundaries and involve the Fairfax Open Space Committee 
(FOSC) in the Commission meeting. 
 
DISCUSSION 

Zoning Ordinance Chapter 17.60, Ridgeline Development, refers in § 17.060.020 Definitions 
and §17.060.030(A) General Requirements to “Visual Resources Map No. 9”.   
 
No map so named is in either the Zoning Ordinance or the Town’s current 2010-2030 General 
Plan.  The current General Plan does show Figure S-1 “Map of Visual Resources” dating from 
1974 that shows ”Ridgeline Scenic Corridors” (see Attachment B).  However, Commissioner 
Newton at the June meeting provided archival information on this map from the 1974 General 
Plan.  The 1974 General Plan Open Space Element Appendix A contains a map list (see 
attachment C) that refers to the Visual Resources map that was part of 12 maps produced in 
support of the General Plan.  The Visual Resources map is number 9 on the 12 map list, 
providing a possible connection to “Map No. 9” referred to in Zoning Chapter 17.060. 
 
Commissioner Newton further attended the June 23 virtual Fairfax Open Space Committee 
(FOSC) zoom meeting, and subsequently had two subcommittee meetings.  Together with 
FOSC subcommittee members and former Councilmember Frank Egger, discussed the Visual 
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Resources map and according to her notes (see Attachment D) reached a consensus that the 
current General Plan’s “Map of Visual Resources” is indeed the “Visual Resources Map No. 9” 
referred to in Zoning Chapter 17.060 Ridgeline Development.   
 
Staff is asking for Commission direction on the following topics: 

1. Should the newly digitized and georeferenced ”Visual Resources Map No. 9”  dated July 
16, 2020 (see Attachment A) be heretofore considered the official version of “Visual 
Resources Map No. 9” for zoning reference purposes? 

2. Should the Zoning Ordinance be amended to refer to the 2010-2030 General Plan “Map 
of Visual Resources”, with the understanding that aside from the amended title, both the 
General Plan and Zoning Ordinance shall use the digitized, georeferenced map? 

3. What additional work or investigation is desired in connection to the Visual Resources 
Map No. 9/Map of Visual Resources? 

 
1. Digitized/georeferenced map 
There are several reasons why staff recommends updating the 1974 map by recognizing the 
digitized and georeferenced “Visual Resources Map No. 9” as the official map for zoning 
purposes.  The first is the afore-mentioned disparity in the titles of the map in the current 
General Plan with the Zoning reference.  Map No. 9 may be adequately referenced in the 1974 
General Plan, but that Plan is no longer in effect, and the map in the current General Plan 
Open Space Element calls it “Map of Visual Resources”.  The current investigation has 
established a link between the former and current General Plan and the Zoning Ordinance, 
However, the title is disparity is confusing.  The Town wants to apply its Ridgeline 
Development regulations to developments in the Town.  It makes it much more straightforward 
to do that with a current, digitized version of the original map.   
 
The paper map is 46 years old.  Although a fine document for the time, the GIS specialist had 
to do a considerable amount of work digitizing and georeferencing the paper map to LIDAR 
(Light Detection and Ranging) information on MarinMap.  LIDAR very accurately locates 
physical features (both terraform and built environment, and these were used to georeference 
the digital version of the paper map).  The georeferencing of the paper map is why the digital 
version no longer has rectangular edges – the paper map had to be “stretched” to make it 
accurately confirm to actual physical features (see Attachment A).   
 
Major benefits of the digital map include that it can now be used in overlay fashion to 
accurately show the locations and edges of map features such as “Ridgeline Scenic 
Corridors”, property boundaries, etc.  Another available layer is roads, which staff finds is very 
helpful in efficiently locating identified map features in Town.   
 
The Commission was interested in preserving the total area bounded by the original “Visual 
Resources [Map No 9]”.  The digitized version (see Attachment A} shows the entire area of the 
original map, with the Town boundaries superimposed for reference. 
 
2. Zoning language amendment  
As noted previously, the map referenced in Chapter 17.060 of the Zoning Ordinance (“Visual 
Resources Map No. 9”) and the same map in the current General Plan have different titles. 
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Staff entitled the draft map “Visual Resources Map No. 9” for the purpose of synching the 
digital map title to the title in the zoning ordinance (and its regulations).   
 
For purposes of overall clarity and applicability in both the Zoning Ordinance and General 
Plan, it probably makes more sense to entitle the map “Map of Visual Resources”, since that is 
the title of the map in the current General Plan that is legally in effect now.  Should the 
Commission desire to use the “Map of Visual Resources”, staff can develop new text effecting 
this change for a Zoning Ordinance text amendment at an upcoming Planning Commission 
meeting. 
 
3.  Visual Resources Map No. 9 / Map Of Visual Resources related topics 
There seemed to be interest in the part of the Commission at the June meeting in considering 
expanding the scope of map-related work to a broader investigation of map features and 
considering whether these should be updated.  
 
It is noted that the Open Space Element of the current General Plan contains several 
references to updating information (see Attachment E copy of Open Space Element). 
 
Staff is very cautious about the prospects substantive work relating to the Visual Resources 
Map No. 9 and Zoning Chapter 17.060.  The Chapter has remained largely as written in 1973.  
A lot has changed in the Town in the intervening 47 years.  However there are probably a lot of 
reasons why no prior Planning Commission or planning staff has undertaken such work.   
 
Staff anticipates massive demands for staff and Commission/Council resources in the near 
future.  This on top of the Covid-19 crisis that is drastically affecting every government entity 
(such as Fairfax).  As noted by the Town Manager at the recent Council budget meeting, 
financial forecasting at this point is an educated guess at best, with substantial budget 
reductions anticipated.  Open-ended work projects under this scenario may not be prudent.  
Creating maximum house size regulations took 8 meetings over about a year’s effort, the new 
cannabis regulations took 22 meetings over close to 2 years.  These two topics were much 
more focused than a General Plan and Zoning amendment promises to be. 
 
Your Commission is also aware of additional demands already placed on it by the need to 
conduct virtual meetings.  Such meetings are projected to continue for the foreseeable future, 
and the rate of such meetings is likely to increase, similar to what the Town Council has been 
experiencing.   
 
If the FOSC or subcommittee of it is willing to investigate on its own, it could be illuminating to 
see to what extent such a broad-scope topic could be narrowed to specific recommendations 
reported back to the Planning Commission. Staff recommends that the Commission limit its 
direct involvement to what is currently on its plate or will be this fiscal year.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 

Provide staff with direction on the three topics outlined above. 
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ATTACHMENTS 
 
Attachment A – Digitized Fairfax Visual Resources Map No.9 
Attachment B – 2010-2030 General Plan Visual Resources map 
Attachment C – Fairfax General Plan (1974) Conservation Element Appendix A excerpts 
Attachment D – Email from Commissioner Newton  
Attachment E – Fairfax 2010-2030 General Plan Open Space Element 
Attachment F -  Zoning Title 17 Chapter 17.60 
 


















































































